---

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA  
No. 20-0335

---

**STATE OF IOWA,**  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

**THOMAS DESHAWN HOLMES,**  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY,  
HONORABLE BRADLEY J. HARRIS

---

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR  
ORAL ARGUMENT

---

R. Ben Stone  
PARRISH KRUIDENIER DUNN  
GENTRY BROWN BERGMANN  
& MESSAMER LLP  
2910 Grand Avenue  
Des Moines, Iowa 50312  
Telephone: (515) 284-5737  
Facsimile: (515) 284-1704  
Email: [bstone@parrishlaw.com](mailto:bstone@parrishlaw.com)  
ATTORNEY FOR  
DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

Tyler Buller  
Assistant Attorney General  
Criminal Appeals Division

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

THE DISTRICT COURT HAS YET TO ISSUE A FINAL RESTITUTION ORDER THAT INCLUDES A DETERMINATION OF WHETHER THE DEFENDANT HAS THE REASONABLE ABILITY TO PAY ALL AMOUNTS OF CATEGORY II RESTITUTION, THUS A REMAND IS REQUIRED

### **Iowa Supreme Court Cases**

*State v. Albright*, 925 N.W.2d 144 (Iowa 2019)

*State v. Klawonn*, 688 N.W.2d 271 (Iowa 2004)

*State v. Headley*, 926 N.W.2d 545 (Iowa 2019)

*State v. Covel*, 925 N.W.2d 183 (Iowa 2019)

*State v. Petty*, 925 N.W.2d 190 (Iowa 2019)

*State v. Davis*, 2020 WL 3022758 (Iowa June 5, 2020)

*State v. Staake*, 2020 WL 3022759 (Iowa June 5, 2020)

### **Additional Iowa Court Cases**

*State v. Holmes*, No. 00-0950 2001 WL 1577584 (Iowa Ct. App. December 12, 2001)

*Holmes v. State*, 18-1467: Ruling Affirming Denial of Postconviction Relief (Iowa Ct. App. April 29, 2020)

*Abbenhaus v. Flannegan*, 756 N.W.2d 481 (Iowa Ct. App. 2008)

*Munz v. State*, 382 N.W.2d 693 (Iowa Ct. App. 1985)



*State v. Hering*, 942 N.W.2d 610 (Iowa Ct. App. January 23, 2020)

*State v. Leonard*, 943 N.W.2d 66 (Iowa Ct. App. February 5, 2020)

*State v. Zimmerman*, 943 N.W.2d 70 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 5, 2020)

*State v. Lofstuen*, 2020 WL 1054439 (Iowa Ct. App. March 4, 2020)

*State v. Stoner*, 2020 WL 1054088 (Iowa Ct. App. March 4, 2020)

*State v. Smeltser*, 928 N.W.2d 858 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019)

*State v. Northern*, 928 N.W.2d 860 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019)

*State v. Wiggins*, 2020 WL 2478674 (Iowa Ct. App. May 13, 2020)

*State v. Gooden*, 2020 WL 2060301 (Iowa Ct. App. April 29, 2020)

*State v. Nagel*, 942 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa Ct. App. January 23, 2020)

*State v. Chapman*, 941 N.W.2d 595 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019)

*State v. Moore*, 939 N.W.2d 645 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019)

*State v. Shackford*, 942 N.W.2d 4 (Iowa Ct. App. January 9, 2020)

*State v. Lester*, 929 N.W.2d 277 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019)

*State v. Meyers*, 929 N.W.2d 876 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019)

*State v. Devolt*, 940 N.W.2d 449 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019)

*State v. Singleton*, 928 N.W.2d 667 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019)

*State v. Bridges*, 943 N.W.2d 70 (Iowa Ct. App. February 5, 2020)

*State v. Maresch*, 928 N.W.2d 868 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019)

*State v. Shultsev*, 2020 WL 2988274 (Iowa Ct. App. June 3, 2020)

*State v. Wedgwood*, 2020 WL 2988405 (Iowa Ct. App. June 3, 2020)

*State v. Chamberlin*, 2020 WL2487893 (Iowa Ct. App. May 13, 2020)

*State v. Dessinger*, 2020 WL 2487899 (Iowa Ct. App. May 13, 2020)

*State v. Oliver*, 2020 WL 2487610 (Iowa Ct. App. May 13, 2020)

*State v. Hampton*, 2020 WL 2968342 (Iowa Ct. App. June 3, 2020)

*State v. McGilvrey*, 2020 WL 2066303 (Iowa Ct. App. April 29, 2020)

*State v. Green*, 2020 WL 1551138 (Iowa Ct. App. April 1, 2020)

*State v. Brocksieck*, 942 N.W.2d 608 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 23, 2020)

*State v. Barker*, 942 N.W.2d 609 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 23, 2020)

*State v. Tillman*, 942 N.W.2d 610 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 23, 2020)

### **Additional Authorities**

Iowa Code §910.7

Iowa Code §710.2(3)(4)

Iowa Code §711.2 (1999)

Iowa Rule of App. P. 6.1101(3)(a)

Iowa Rule of App. P. 6.103(1)

Iowa Rule of App. P. 6.101(1)(b)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Pursuant to Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1101(3)(a), because this case presents an application of existing legal principles, it should be transferred to the Court of Appeals.

## **STATEMENT OF CASE**

### **Nature of the Case**

This is an appeal by the Defendant from a final order denying his Motion to Amend and Enlarge the Restitution Order Pursuant to Iowa Code §910.7 of the Honorable Bradley J. Harris. This appeal is a matter of right pursuant to Iowa Rules of App. P. 6.101(1)(b) and 6.103(1).

### **Procedural History**

On April 25, 2000, after a bench trial, the Defendant was convicted of Kidnapping in the First Degree, in violation of Iowa Code §710.2(3)(4)<sup>1</sup> and Robbery in the First Degree, in violation of Iowa Code §711.2 (1999). On

---

<sup>1</sup> This section does not exist in the Code of Iowa, and never has existed. Both the sentencing transcript and the sentencing order reference this code section exclusively. The Iowa Court of Appeals also referenced this non-existent section in affirming Mr. Holmes' conviction. *State v. Holmes*, No. 00-950 2001 WL 1577584 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 12, 2001). Extensive litigation has taken place in regard to Mr. Holmes' conviction and sentencing under a non-existent code section, and it is anticipated that this litigation will continue in the federal courts. See *Holmes v. State*, 18-1467: Ruling Affirming Denial of Postconviction Relief (Iowa Ct. App. April 29, 2020); Appellant's Application for Further Review (filed May 19, 2020); Order Denying Further Review (Iowa June 23, 2020).

May 22, 2000, the court denied Defendant's Motion in Arrest of Judgment and Motion for New Trial. (Supplemental Order – Order of Restitution, App. 6). On May 24, 2000, the court sentenced Defendant to life in prison. ( App. 6). Defendant appealed. The appellate court later affirmed his convictions. *State v. Holmes*, No. 00-0950 2001 WL 1577584 (Iowa Ct. App. December 12, 2001).

On March 15, 2001, the court issued a Supplemental Order. (Supplemental Order, App. 6). The purpose of this single page order is described as “to determine amount of restitution ordered” and “TO RECEIVE (COURT COSTS, ETC.) WHICH WERE NOT AVAILABLE AT THE TIME OF SENTENCING.” ([capitalization in original], App. 6). The order further states “IT IS THE JUDGEMENT OF THE COURT that the Defendant is hereby ordered to make restitution pursuant to Iowa Code 910.2 and 910.3 in the amounts herein set forth:” (App. 6).

The amounts set by this Restitution Order are: “Victim Assistance Program: \$15,260.00; Court Costs \$6042.14; Attorney Fees \$25,453.60” (App. 6). The order contains no reference to whether the Defendant had a reasonable ability to pay any of the restitution amounts stated therein.

On March 18, 2004, a Restitution Plan was filed with the approval of the Warden of the Iowa State Penitentiary requiring the Defendant to make

payments with twenty (20) percent of all his institutional accounts. (Restitution Plan, App. 7). The order states that amounts due at that time were the following: \$4,542.14 for “Costs,” \$14,657 for “Restitution” [\$603 previously paid], and \$25,453.60 for “Other” [2.28 previously paid]. (App. 7).

On September 27, 2017, the Defendant, acting *pro se*, filed a Request for Hearing on the Inability to Pay Attorney Fees. (Request for Hearing on the Inability to Pay Attorney Fees, App. 8). On October 5, 2017, the court found by order that the Defendant did not have the reasonable ability to pay attorney fees. (Order, App. 9).

On August 12, 2019, the Defendant, acting *pro se*, filed a Request for Restitution Hearing pursuant to Iowa Code §910.7. (Request for Restitution Hearing, App. 11). On October 9, 2019 -- after a hearing on September 23, 2019 -- the court denied the Defendant’s request to find he did not have the reasonable ability to pay *attorney fees*. (Order, App. 18) (emphasis supplied). No reference is made in the order to whether the Defendant has the reasonable ability to pay “court costs” or “restitution.”

On October 15, 2019, the Defendant filed a Motion to Enlarge and Amend. (Motion to Amend and Enlarge, App. 20). On October 25, 2019, the court denied this motion. The Defendant filed notice of appeal on November 4, 2019.

On March 20, 2020 the undersigned was appointed to represent the Defendant in this appeal.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

When restitution was initially ordered in this case in 2001, the court made no determination as to the reasonable ability of the Defendant to pay any of his restitution costs, including the \$25,454 assessed for attorney fees. Over the course of the last two decades, the Defendant has paid twenty (20) percent of his institutional income toward this restitution.

In March of 2019, the Iowa Supreme Court issued its ruling in *State v. Albright*, 925 N.W.2d 144 (2019). In this decision, the Court directed that district courts were required to make a determination at the final restitution hearing as to the reasonable ability of defendants to pay what is now referred to as Category II restitution in its entirety. *Id.* at 162 (emphasis supplied).

In response to this court decision, the Defendant in August of 2019 filed a Request for Restitution Hearing. (Request for Restitution Hearing, App. 11). In this motion, the Defendant, acting *pro se*, cited to an October 5, 2017 order stating that he does not have the reasonable ability to pay his attorney fees. (App. 11-12). After a hearing on September 23, 2019, the district court ruled that the Defendant “does have the reasonable ability to pay those attorney fees....” (Order, App. 18). Citing to the fact “the defendant has been paying

from his inmate account since the time of his conviction in this matter,” the court noted “that the *attorney fees previously ordered* in this matter are within that amount determined to be acceptable by [the] state public defender for the three attorneys which defendant utilized prior to his conviction in this case,” and further noted that the “defendant has successfully followed the plan of payment arranged by the Department of Corrections during defendant’s incarceration.” (Order, App. 18) (emphasis supplied).

The court’s order makes no reference to Defendant’s reasonable ability to pay any other Category II restitution, to wit: Court Costs and Restitution.

The Defendant then filed a *pro se* Motion to Amend and Enlarge. (Motion to Amend, App. 20). In this filing, the Defendant argues that the October 9 ruling was erroneous in using his conduct *since* the 2001 restitution order to assert he has the reasonable ability to pay. Further -- and particularly relevant to this appeal -- Defendant asked the Court to state whether its October 9 order was a “final restitution order” under *Albright*. (Motion to Amend; App. 20). The court did not respond to this inquiry, instead simply denying the Defendant’s motion on October 15. (Order denying motion, App. 22).

Throughout the course of this case, no court has ever issued a final restitution order that includes a finding that the Defendant has a reasonable

ability to pay restitution as a part of the analysis necessary to issue a final restitution order that is consistent with Defendant's constitutional rights under *Albright*. Further, his reasonable ability to pay ALL his Category II restitution costs – including the Victim Assistance Program/Restitution and Court Costs – has never been considered.

Relevant additional facts will be set forth below.

### **ARGUMENT**

THE DISTRICT COURT HAS YET TO ISSUE A FINAL RESTITUTION ORDER THAT INCLUDES A DETERMINATION OF WHETHER THE DEFENDANT HAS THE REASONABLE ABILITY TO PAY ALL AMOUNTS OF CATEGORY II RESTITUTION, THUS A REMAND IS REQUIRED

#### **Standard of Review and Issue Preservation.**

The review of restitution orders is for correction of errors at law. *State v. Albright*, 925 N.W.2d 144, 158 (Iowa 2019). The reviewing court is to “determine whether the court’s findings lack substantial evidentiary support, or whether the court has not properly applied the law.” *State v. Klawonn*, 688 N.W.2d 271, 274 (Iowa 2004).

The Defendant, acting *pro se*, preserved this issue when he asserted that the State of Iowa had “failed to comply with Chapter 910, in that the Applicant’s Restitution plan of payment was not modified to comply with” Iowa law. (Request for Restitution Hearing, App. 11). As a *pro se* party filing



his own pleadings in the district court, the Defendant is “entitled to a liberal construction” of his pleadings. *Abbenhaus v. Flannegan*, 756 N.W.2d 481 at \*1 (Iowa Ct. App. 2008)(quoting *Munz v. State*, 382 N.W.2d 693, 697 (Iowa Ct. App. 1985)).

In addition, this issue was preserved when the Defendant subsequently referenced a failure to make “any determination on whether defendant had a reasonable ability to pay” restitution while also asking the court to render a “final order of restitution” consistent with *State v. Albright*, 925 N.W.2d 144 (Iowa 2019) (Motion to Amend and Enlarge, App. 20).

Preservation was further established when the defendant asked in his Motion to Amend and Enlarge for the court to declare that its October 9 order was, in fact, a final restitution order. (App. 20). Finally, the Defendant filed notice of appeal. (Notice of Appeal, App. 24).

## **ARGUMENT**

*State v. Albright* requires that the district court make a determination regarding a defendant’s reasonable ability to pay restitution prior to the issuance of a final order of restitution. 925 N.W.2d at 162 (emphasis supplied). In fact, until a final restitution order is issued, any prior restitution orders are “nonappealable or unenforceable.” *Id.* at 161.

In Mr. Holmes' case, the only final restitution order was filed 18 years before any district court even discussed whether the Defendant had the reasonable ability to pay the previously ordered restitution. From the day the order regarding restitution was issued on March 15, 2001, no final order of restitution has been filed subsequent to a determination of Defendant's reasonable ability to pay. After Judge Harris had determined the defendant had the reasonable ability to pay "those attorney fees previously assessed to him," the defendant asked Judge Harris to declare his October 2010 order a "final restitution order." Judge Harris declined to do so. Therefore, under *Albright*, the October 9 order of Judge Harris finding the defendant has the reasonable ability to pay the previously ordered restitution amount for attorney fees is unenforceable until a final restitution order is issued. For this reason, a remand is required.

Numerous decisions since *Albright* have required remand for determination of reasonable ability to pay prior to the final restitution order being filed. *State v. Headley*, 926 N.W.2d 545 (Iowa 2019); *State v. Covell*, 925 N.W.2d 183 (Iowa 2019); *State v. Petty*, 925 N.W.2d 190 (Iowa 2019); *State v. Davis*, 2020 WL 3022758 (Iowa June 5, 2020); *State v. Staake*, 2020 WL 3022759 (Iowa June 5, 2020); *State v. Hering*, 942 N.W.2d 610 (Iowa Ct. App. January 23, 2020); *State v. Leonard*, 943 N.W.2d 66 (Iowa Ct. App.

February 5, 2020); *State v. Zimmerman*, 943 N.W.2d 70 (Iowa Ct. App. February 5, 2020); *State v. Lofstuen*, 2020 WL 1054439 (Iowa Ct. App. March 4, 2020); *State v. Stoner*, 2020 WL 1054088 (Iowa Ct. App. March 4, 2020); *State v. Smeltser*, 928 N.W.2d 858 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019); *State v. Northern*, 928 N.W.2d 860 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019); *State v. Wiggins*, 2020 WL 2478674 (Iowa Ct. App. May 13, 2020); *State v. Gooden*, 2020 WL 2060301 (Iowa Ct. App. April 29, 2020); *State v. Nagel*, 942 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa Ct. App. January 23, 2020); *State v. Chapman*, 941 N.W.2d 595 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019); *State v. Gillen*, 941 N.W.2d 602 (Iowa Ct. App. (2019)); *State v. Moore*, 939 N.W.2d 645 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019); *State v. Shackford*, 942 N.W.2d 4 (Iowa Ct. App. January 9, 2020); *State v. Comly*, 940 N.W.2d 441 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019); *State v. Lester*, 929 N.W.2d 277 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019); *State v. Meyers*, 929 N.W.2d 876 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019); *State v. Devolt*, 940 N.W.2d 449 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019); *State v. Singleton*, 928 N.W.2d 667 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019); *State v. Bridges*, 943 N.W.2d 70 (Iowa Ct. App. February 5, 2020); *State v. Maresch*, 928 N.W.2d 868 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019); *State v. Shultsev*, 2020 WL 2988274 (Iowa Ct. App. June 3, 2020); *State v. Wedgwood*, 2020 WL 2988405 (Iowa Ct. App. June 3, 2020); *State v. Chamberlin*, 2020 WL 2487893 (Iowa Ct. App. May 13, 2020); and *State v. Dessinger*, 2020 WL 2487899 (Iowa Ct. App. May 13, 2020).

In several other instances a remand was ordered to specifically deal with a district court's failure to issue a final restitution order despite having previously made some type of determination as to defendant's reasonable ability to pay. *State v. Oliver*, 2020 WL 2487610 (Iowa Ct. App. May 13, 2020)(sentencing court determined reasonable ability to pay on attorney fees, but did not yet have court costs and correctional fees before it, so remand necessary); *State v. Hampton*, 2020 WL 2968342 (Iowa Ct. App. June 3, 2020)(sentencing court determined ability to pay only as to attorney fees, so remand necessary); *State v. McGilvrey*, 2020 WL 2066303 (Iowa Ct. App. April 29, 2020)(district court found defendant unable to pay attorney fees, but required him to pay court costs without a reasonable-ability-to-pay determination); and *State v. Green*, 2020 WL 1551138 (Iowa Ct. App. April 1, 2020).

The absence in the record of a final restitution order procedurally compliant with *Albright* compelled a similar remand in *State v. Brocksieck*, 942 N.W.2d 608, 608 (Iowa Ct. App. January 23, 2020) as well as in *State v. Barker*, 942 N.W.2d 609 (Iowa Ct. App. January 23, 2020).

Finally, there are instances where the absence of a clear record revealing the court's intention that a final restitution order has been entered is enough to compel a remand. In *State v. Tillman*, the appellate court felt it

necessary to remand for another proceeding because “it is unclear from the record whether the district court intended the sentencing order to be considered the ‘final restitution order.’” 942 N.W.2d 610, at \*4 (Iowa Ct. App. January 23, 2020).

These cases support the necessity of a remand in this case. The Defendant’s case is procedurally in violation of *Albright* in that there is yet to be a final restitution order that includes the proper determination of his reasonable ability to pay all Category II restitution amounts.

### **CONCLUSION**

The only final restitution order in this case was issued on March 15, 2001. At that time, the court had made no effort to determine whether the defendant had the reasonable ability to pay the restitution amounts ordered. Therefore, the Court must remand to the district court so a final restitution hearing can be held to determine whether the defendant has the reasonable ability to pay the all restitution amounts previously ordered, or whether adjustments to those amounts are necessary consistent with defendant’s reasonable ability to pay at the time.

### **REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Counsel requests to be heard in oral argument.

**PARRISH KRUIDENIER DUNN GENTRY  
BROWN BERGMANN & MESAMER L.L.P.**