IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 20-0335

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

THOMAS DESHAWN HOLMES,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE BRADLEY J. HARRIS, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

TYLER J. BULLER
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
tyler.buller@ag.iowa.gov

BRIAN WILLIAMS
Black Hawk County Attorney

BRAD WALZ
Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

- I. This Court lacks authority to decide the defendant’s restitution claim as a result of Senate File 457 and the Supreme Court’s supervisory order on restitution.**

Motion to Dismiss

The Supreme Court ordered the question of whether this case should be dismissed to be submitted with the appeal. 11/2/2020 Supreme Court Order. This Court should dismiss the action for two

reasons: first, new legislation eliminates the Court’s authority to hear the case; and second, regardless of new legislation, a ruling on a 910.7 motion is not appealable as a matter of right.

Senate File 457 deprives this Court of jurisdiction or authority to hear this case.

As the Court of Appeals has recognized, the Governor and General Assembly have acted to restrict this Court’s jurisdiction over certain restitution matters by enacting Senate File 457: “Because the Act removes our statutory authority to review or modify a plan of restitution before an offender exhausts the new district court remedies, we are unable to consider the issue raised on appeal.” *State v. Williams*, No. 19-0152, 2020 WL 4497993, at *7 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 5, 2020). In other words, this Court lacks authority to hear the defendant’s claim and thus dismissal is appropriate. *See id.*

Among other changes, Senate File 457 eliminates appellate jurisdiction to decide restitution claims unless an offender has preserved error and exhausted his remedies in the district court:

An appellate court shall not review or modify an offender’s plan of restitution ... unless the offender has exhausted the offender’s remedies under [section 910.7] and obtained a ruling from the district court prior to the issue being raised in the appellate courts.

SF457, § 80 (88th Gen. Assemb.) [to be codified at new section 910.7(4)]. The new legislation also provides that a defendant who does not request a determination of his reasonable ability to pay “waives all future claims regarding the offender’s reasonable ability to pay, except as provided by section 910.7.” SF457, § 72 (88th Gen. Assemb.) [to be codified at new section 910.2A(3)(b)].

The procedures established by Senate File 457, including the preservation, exhaustion, and waiver provisions, apply to all pending cases—including this appeal. According to the defendant, the restitution order at issue here lacks a reasonable-ability-to-pay finding for court costs. Defendant’s Am. Proof Br. at 17. Under old case law, this would have been a “temporary” restitution order. *See State v. Davis*, No. 19-0022, 2020 WL 3022758, at *4 (Iowa June 5, 2020).

Senate File 457 eliminates “temporary” restitution orders and converts all previously temporary orders into “permanent restitution orders.” SF457, § 73 (88th Gen. Assemb.) [to be codified at new section 910.2B]. Pursuant to the Supreme Court’s supervisory order of July 7, 2020, the conversion process is automatic, “as of June 25, 2020.” *In the Matter of Interim Procedures Governing Ability to*

Pay Determinations and Conversion of Restitution Orders (July 7, 2020), p. 3, available at <https://www.iowacourts.gov/collections/521/files/1139/embedDocument/>. Thus, the order at issue here has been converted to a “permanent restitution order” within the meaning of the new legislation. This conversion can only be challenged through the filing of a new petition pursuant to section 910.7. SF457, § 73 (88th Gen. Assemb.) [to be codified at new section 910.2B(3)]. All provisions of the new legislation “apply to a challenge to the conversion of an existing restitution order in the district court **and on appeal.**” SF457, § 73 (88th Gen. Assemb.) [to be codified at new sections 910.2B(3), (3)] (emphasis added). Finally, such a challenge may be heard only in the district court, and only within one year of June 25, 2020. SF457, § 73 (88th Gen. Assemb.) [to be codified at new sections 910.2B(4)]. By operation of law, the combination of the supervisory order and the legislative text requires that this Court apply the waiver, exhaustion, and preservation limitations, as well as the limitations on challenging the conversion of existing orders, to the claim made in this appeal.

Even without the supervisory order, the legislation would still apply to all pending cases. The General Assembly “deemed [these

provisions] of immediate importance” and directed that they “take effect upon enactment.” SF457, § 83 (88th Gen. Assemb.). The changes are procedural because the legislation does not outright deny the judiciary authority to review a restitution order, but instead regulates the machinery by which the Court may do so. *See Hannan v. State*, 732 N.W.2d 45, 51 (Iowa 2007) (amendment to section 814.7 was procedural because it regulated the machinery of raising ineffective-assistance claims). Because the legislation merely changes the tribunal that decides a restitution claim in the first instance (by requiring the district court to first rule on the issue), it does not deny any substantive right to the defendant. *Santos v. Guam*, 436 F.3d 1051, 1056 (9th Cir. 2006) (Wallace, J., concurring) (“[E]very relevant case has made it clear that a change in the number of tribunals authorized to hear a litigant’s arguments does not implicate the litigant’s substantive rights.”) (also collecting cases).

The Supreme Court has expressly held that statutes regulating procedures and presumptions apply to pending cases, even if the newly enacted statute establishes that failure to object waives claim. *State ex rel. Buechler v. Vinsand*, 318 N.W.2d 208, 210 (Iowa 1982) (statute with presumption regarding admissibility of expert report

applied to all pending cases, including requirement that objection be made pre-trial; defendant's failure to object was waiver). That principle separately requires this Court to apply the new legislation to pending cases. *See State v. Thompson*, 836 N.W.2d 470, 481 (Iowa 2013) (legislative amendments to section 622.10, intended to supersede the *Cashen* protocol, took effect upon enactment and applied to pending cases)

Also, the Supreme Court has focused its analysis of whether new legislation applies to pending litigation by focusing on what event the legislation regulates and determining if the event in any particular case pre- or post-dates the legislation's effective date. *State v. Macke*, 933 N.W.2d 226, 231–36 (Iowa 2019) (relevant event was the taking of an appeal, which pre-dated the effective date of the new statute; as a result, the new statute did not apply). This understanding of *Macke* finds support in other cases, including Justice Scalia's special concurrence in *Landgraf*: "the purpose of provisions conferring or eliminating jurisdiction is to permit or forbid the exercise of judicial power—so that the relevant event for retroactivity purposes is the moment at which that power is sought to be exercised." *Landgraf v. USI Film Prod.*, 511 U.S. 244, 293 (1994)

(Scalia, J., specially concurring). The majority opinion in *Landgraf* similarly recognizes that statutes regulating jurisdiction, like new section 910.7(4) in SF457, “speak to the power of the court,” not “the rights or obligations of the parties.” *Id.* at 274 (internal citation and quotation omitted). The event regulated by the new preservation and exhaustion provisions is when the “appellate court” is asked to “review or modify an offender’s plan of restitution”—when this Court decides the case. SF457, § 80 (88th Gen. Assemb.) [to be codified at new section 910.7(4)].

Unlike the 2019 amendments to section 814.6, which regulated the taking of an appeal, the amendment to section 910.7 at issue here regulates the exercise of appellate jurisdiction, by specifying “[a]n appellate court shall not review or modify...” SF457, § 80 (88th Gen. Assemb.) [to be codified at new section 910.7(4)]. This is clearly and directly a provision aimed at the appellate courts’ jurisdiction, not the ability of a party to take an appeal. *Contra James v. State*, 479 N.W.2d 287, 290 (Iowa 1991) (statute regulating ability of inmate to appeal disciplinary rulings).

Finally, the context surrounding the enactment of Senate File 457 also establishes an intent to immediately intervene and correct

judicial decisions that would affect pending cases. For 21 years, Iowa Supreme Court case law contained an exhaustion requirement that was functionally similar to the exhaustion provision to be codified at new section 910.7(4). See *State v. Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d 354, 357 (Iowa 1999); *State v. Swartz*, 601 N.W.2d 348, 354 (Iowa 1999). On June 5, 2020, the Court overruled those cases. *State v. Davis*, No. 19-0022, 2020 WL 3022758, at *5 (Iowa June 5, 2020). Justice McDonald, in dissent, observed that the “the legislature will be ‘quite surprised’ to learn that we have switched course after twenty-one years and reinterpreted the restitution statutes.” *State v. Davis*, No. 19-0022, 2020 WL 3022758, at *10 (Iowa June 5, 2020) (McDonald, J. dissenting). Apparently so, as the General Assembly passed the preservation and exhaustion provisions to be codified at section 910.7(4) only eight days after *Davis*, with a supermajority in the House and unanimous support in the Senate. See SF457 BillBook (88th Gen. Assemb.). This, particularly combined with the language used and the immediate effective date, demonstrates legislative intent to apply the relevant restitution provisions of Senate File 457 to all pending cases. Cf. *Thompson*, 836 N.W.2d at 481 (legislative

amendments intended to supersede *Cashen* decision applied to pending cases).

Dismissal is also consistent with the Supreme Court’s denial of the motion for a limited remand. *See* 8/27/2020 Supreme Court Order. Because the conversion procedure did not exist before June 25, 2020, litigation regarding conversion would require the defendant to raise a new issue that post-dates the notice of appeal. As a result, a limited remand is improper. *Cf. Goode v. State*, 920 N.W.2d 520, 526 (Iowa 2018).

Finally, the defendant chose not to substantively confront any of these arguments in his resistance to the State’s motion to dismiss. 9/21/2020 Resistance to Motion to Dismiss, pp. 1–2. He seemingly concedes that, by “operation of S.F. 457 and [the supervisory order],” there is now a “permanent restitution order” in this case. Resistance, ¶ 10–11. This requires the Court to dismiss the appeal, so that the defendant can pursue the only remedy available to him: filing a new 910.7 petition in the district court, utilizing the procedures set forth in Senate File 457 and the Supreme Court’s supervisory order.

In short, the new legislation’s preservation, exhaustion, waiver, and conversion provisions each independently preclude appellate

review at this time. Dismissal is required, as the Court of Appeals has previously recognized this type of claim cannot be reviewed. *See State v. Williams*, No. 19-0152, 2020 WL 4497993, at *7 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 5, 2020).

Regardless of the new legislation, a 910.7 order cannot be appealed as a matter of right.

Even if Senate File 457 did not wholly deprive the Court of authority to decide the case, this attempted appeal should still be dismissed because it is not authorized by statute.

“In Iowa the right of appeal is statutory and not constitutional.” *State v. Hinnners*, 471 N.W.2d 841, 843 (Iowa 1991). Iowa Code section 814.6 regulates criminal appeals and secures the defendant appeal as a matter of right from a “final judgment of sentence,” subject to exceptions inapplicable here. Iowa Code § 814.6 (2019). A ruling on a 910.7 petition is not a “final judgment of sentence” and thus section 814.6 does not confer jurisdiction or authority on this Court to review the matter.

A close analogue in the case law is a ruling on a motion to correct an illegal sentence, which the Supreme Court has held cannot be appealed as a matter of right—only by certiorari. *State v. Propps*, 897 N.W.2d 91, 97 (Iowa 2017); *see also State v. Janz*, 358 N.W.2d

547, 549 (Iowa 1984) (analogizing a 910.7 petition to a motion to correct an illegal sentence).

In resisting the State's motion to dismiss, the defendant offers no response to this argument. 9/21/2020 Resistance, pp. 1–2. Even after the State moved to dismiss, this defendant has not petitioned for certiorari. *Id.* Appeal is not authorized, extraordinary review has not been sought and is not justified, and thus dismissal is warranted.

Preservation of Error

The State contests error preservation because the defendant's claim below is not the same as his claim on appeal. He did not preserve a claim that relates to whether there is an independent reasonable-ability-to-pay finding related to court costs.

The defendant filed a pro se “request for restitution hearing.” 08/12/2019 Pro Se Request for Restitution Hearing; App. ---. A hearing was held and the district court described the defendant's argument as a claim “that he is not reasonably able to pay attorney fees previously assessed in the amount of \$25,453.60.” 10/9/2019 Order; App. 18. The court noted the defendant had successfully been following the payment plan arranged by the Department of Corrections and found “the defendant does have the reasonable

ability to pay those attorney fees previously assessed to him.”

10/9/2019 Order; App. 18.

The defendant filed a pro se motion to enlarge and amend, asking whether the order previously entered was a “final order” and requesting the return of money he had already paid toward his restitution obligations. 10/15/2019 Pro Se Motion to Enlarge or Amend; App. 20–21. The district court denied the motion.

10/25/2019 Order; App. 22.

The defendant never specifically requested that the district court conduct a reasonable-ability-to-pay finding on court costs. He cannot complain that the district court did not make such a finding when he never asked for one. Error was not preserved. *See, e.g., State v. Rutledge*, 600 N.W.2d 324, 325 (Iowa 1999).

Although this Court has sometimes reviewed un-preserved challenges to restitution amounts on appeal, the Court should not and cannot continue that practice. Deciding unpreserved challenges erodes longstanding precedent and cannot be reconciled with the Iowa Constitution.

As Chief Justice Cady put it, “Error preservation is a fundamental principle of law with roots that extend to the basic

constitutional function of appellate courts.” *State v. Harrington*, 893 N.W.2d 36, 42 (Iowa 2017) (citing Thomas A. Mayes & Anuradha Vaitheswaran, *Error Preservation in Civil Appeals in Iowa: Perspectives on Present Practice*, 55 Drake L. Rev. 39, 43 (2006)). This is especially true in Iowa, where the Constitution establishes the Supreme Court as “a court for the correction of errors at law.” Iowa Const. art. V, § 4. This constitutional text does not empower the Court to modify judgments based on unpreserved error: “If a litigant fails to present an issue to the district court and obtain a ruling on the same, it cannot be said that we are correcting an error at law.” *State v. Tidwell*, No. 13-1080, 2013 WL 6405367, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 5, 2013) (McDonald, J.).

The Supreme Court’s longstanding case law, of course, also supports the importance of error preservation. *See, e.g., State v. Rutledge*, 600 N.W.2d 324, 325 (Iowa 1999); *Danforth, Davis & Co. v. Carter*, 1 Iowa 546, 553 (1855).

The Constitution and the case law weigh heavily against reaching any unpreserved error, such as the reasonable-ability-to-pay challenge the defendant raises for the first time on appeal here.

Deciding unpreserved restitution claims under the guise of an illegal sentence is incompatible with the Iowa Constitution.

Standard of Review

The district court has a mandatory duty to impose restitution, which triggers review for correction of errors at law. *See State v. Hagen*, 840 N.W.2d 140, 149 (Iowa 2013); *State v. Bonstetter*, 637 N.W.2d 161, 165 (Iowa 2001).

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